FILED SID J. WHITE JAN 4 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief/Députy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE COMPANY, an insurance corporation licensed to do business in the state of Florida,

S.C. CASE NO.

80,986

DCA CASE NO. 92-00270

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN PHILLIPS and KIMBERLY PHILLIPS (formerly known as Kimberly Scanato),

Respondents.

### PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

GEORGE A. VAKA, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No. 374016 FOWLER, WHITE, GILLEN, BOGGS, VILLAREAL & BANKER, P.A. Post Office Box 1438 Tampa, Florida 33601 (813) 228-7411 ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

##

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

As its Statement of the Case and Facts, the Petitioner, Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company,<sup>2</sup> adopts by reference the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in this matter. (A. 1-11)<sup>3</sup> However, Nationwide would provide a brief summary of the relevant facts as follows:

Nationwide issued a policy of automobile liability insurance to its named insured, Kimberly Phillips. (A. 2) The policy provided liability coverage as follows:

> Under this coverage, if you become legally obligated to pay damages resulting from the ownership, maintenance, use, loading or unloading of your auto, we will pay for such damages. Anyone living in your household has this protection. (A. 2)

The policy also defines "you" as the "policyholder first named in the attached Declarations, and "include that policyholder's spouse if living in the same household." (A. 2) The policy also defines "your auto" as the "vehicle or vehicles described in the attached Declarations." The only vehicle described in the declarations was Mrs. Phillips' Chevette.

The uninsured motorists (UM) section of the policy contains Exclusion No. 4 which reads as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Petitioner, Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Company, will be referred to as Nationwide or as Petitioner. The Respondents, Kevin Phillips and Kimberly Phillips (formerly known as Kimberly Scanato), his wife, will be referred to as Respondents or by name.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All references to the Appendix attached hereto will be referred to as (A) followed by the appropriate page number of the Appendix.

This Uninsured Motorists insurance does not apply as follows:

4. It does not apply to bodily injury suffered while occupying a motor vehicle owned by you or a relative living in your household, but not insured for Uninsured Motorists coverage under this policy. . .

(A. 2)

On September 28, 1990, Kevin Phillips was riding a motorcycle which was owned by him when he was involved in an accident and injured by the negligence of an uninsured motorist. (A. 2) Mr. and Mrs. Phillips filed a declaratory judgment action The trial court entered summary seeking UM coverage. (A. 2) judgment for the Phillipses and determined that Mr. Phillips was entitled to UM coverage. (A. 3) The Fifth District affirmed that That court acknowledged that there would not be decision. liability coverage for the accident under Nationwide's policy. However, the court determined that Mr. Phillips was a Class I insured, and Nationwide's exclusion was, therefore, invalid. (A. 3-The court also determined that since Mrs. Phillips had not 9) elected the uninsured motorists coverage as outlined in Fla. Stat. § 627.727(9), that Nationwide could not limit coverage to her resident family members. (A. 10-11)

#### JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH OTHER REPORTED APPELLATE DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT AND THE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL?

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District expressly and directly conflicts with the decision from this Court in Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990). There, this Court stated that since its decision in Mullis, courts have consistently followed the principle that if the liability portions of an insurance policy would be applicable to a particular accident, the UM provisions would likewise be applicable. Whereas, if the liability provisions do not apply to a given accident, the UM provisions of that policy also would not apply. The Fifth District specifically rejected this rule and called it a misstatement of the The court ruled that if the injured person would be insured law. for any purpose whatsoever under a liability policy, he was entitled to UM coverage. The decision of the Fifth District not only conflicts with Valiant, but clearly misapplies the rule stated in Mullis because that decision requires UM coverage to be provided only to those people who are likewise required to be insured under the Financial Responsibility Law.

The Fifth District's decision likewise conflicts with the decisions of the Fourth and Second District Courts of Appeal in <u>Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Wright</u>, 543 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. den.</u>, 551 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989); <u>Progressive American Insurance Co. v. Hunter</u>, 603 So.2d 1301 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); and <u>Bolin v. Massachusetts Bay Insurance Co.</u>, 518 So.2d 393 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987) respectively. In each of those cases, on virtually identical material facts, the court stated that the

appropriate rule to be applied to determine whether UM coverage was available was to inquire whether liability coverage would be available to the injured person for the accident. If there was no liability coverage, the UM carrier was not obligated to provide that person coverage. In each case, the UM insurer's exclusion was enforced because no liability coverage was provided to the injured person for the accident. Here, the Fifth District acknowledged the rule and its application by other Florida courts, but nevertheless rejected the rule's application here. The conflict in decisions is apparent, and this Court should review the case on the merits.

#### ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT AND APPEAL EXPRESSLY COURT OF CONFLICTS WITH NUMEROUS DIRECTLY OTHER REPORTED APPELLATE DECISIONS AND  $\mathbf{THE}$ OTHER COURT THIS FROM DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

Under Article V, § 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1980), this court may exercise its discretionary jurisdiction when an appellate decision expressly and directly conflicts with the decision from another Florida court. That conflict must be express and contained within the written rule announced by the court. Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980); Dodi Publishing Co. v. Editorial America, S.A., 385 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1980). This Court has recognized two situations which have authorized the invocation of its conflict jurisdiction. The first is when the decision announces a rule of law which conflicts with the rule previously announced by another appellate court. The second is where there has been an application of a rule of law to produce a different

result in a case which involves substantially the same controlling facts as a prior case decided by another appellate court. <u>Nielson</u> <u>v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So.2d 731, 735 (Fla. 1960). In this case, the decision of the Fifth District expressly and directly conflicts with decisions from other Florida courts under both circumstances identified in <u>Nielson</u>.

A. "RULE" CONFLICT

In <u>Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster</u>, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990), citing to <u>Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance</u> <u>Co.</u>, 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), this Court stated, ". . . the words "persons insured" as used in the uninsured motorist statute are the same persons who are insured under the liability policy <u>required by</u> <u>the financial responsibility law</u>." [emphasis supplied] <u>Id</u>. at 410. This Court explained that rule of law as follows:

> Since our decision in <u>Mullis</u>, the courts have consistently followed the principle that if the liability portions of an insurance policy would be applicable to a particular accident, the uninsured motorists provisions would likewise be applicable. Whereas, if the liability provisions did not apply to a given accident, the uninsured motorists provisions of that policy also would not apply. . .

Id. at 410.

The Fifth District concluded that the <u>Valiant</u> majority had "misstated" the <u>Mullis</u> rule. (A. 8-9) Citing to the <u>Valiant</u> <u>dissent</u>, the Fifth District relied instead upon its explanation of the <u>Mullis</u> rule as the basis for its holding here. (A. 5) In "overruling" the <u>Valiant</u> majority, the Fifth District held that the proper inquiry is whether the injured person is a Class I insured

and not whether liability coverage would apply to that person for the accident. (A. 8) Under the new rule announced by the Fifth District, only if the injured person would not be insured <u>for any</u> <u>purpose</u> under a liability policy could an insurer deny him UM coverage. (A. 8)<sup>4</sup>

The rule of law announced by the Fifth District also expressly and directly conflicts with the opposite rule of law announced by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Government Employees Insurance Co. v. Wright, 543 So.2d 1320 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. den., 551 So.2d 464 (Fla. 1989) and Progressive American Insurance Co. v. Hunter, 603 So.2d 1301 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). In each of those cases, the Fourth District held that a resident relative of the named insured was not entitled to uninsured motorists coverage when they were injured while operating their own vehicles which were not insured for purposes of liability coverage under the named insured's policy. The present decision also Second District decision in <u>Bolin v.</u> conflicts with the Massachusetts Bay Insurance Co., 518 So.2d 393 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987)

The Fifth District did not elaborate how this new rule 4 could even be applied. Pursuant to Fla. Stat. § 324.151, any permissive user of a specifically identified insured vehicle must be provided liability coverage. Under the rule announced by the Fifth District, presumably a stranger to the policy could claim UM benefits because he or she would be covered as a permissive user of the Since the issue of whether that person would vehicle. have coverage for the particular accident is not the appropriate inquiry, according to the Fifth District, and since that person would be covered for at least one purpose under the policy, the injured person would be entitled to UM benefits even if he were not a permissive user of an insured vehicle involved in the accident.

which applied the same rule. The Fifth District noted that some of its sister courts had interpreted <u>Mullis</u> to require the "liability coverage" analysis which it rejected. (A. 6) Therefore, under the "rule" type of conflict identified in <u>Nielson</u>, the decision of the Fifth District expressly and directly conflicts with other reported decisions and confers upon this Court the authority to exercise its discretionary jurisdiction.

#### B. "FACT" CONFLICT

The decision of the Fifth District also satisfies the second situation identified in <u>Nielson</u>. That is, the decision misapplies existing law to reach a decision which is contrary to a previously reported decision with facts that are materially the same. The Fifth District's decision not only demonstrates "rule conflict" with the decisions of the Fourth and Second Districts in <u>Wright</u>, <u>Hunter</u> and <u>Bolin</u>, respectively, it also provides "fact" conflict with each of those cases.

The material facts of those cases are virtually identical. In each case, the person claiming UM benefits was a resident relative of the named insured. Each person was injured in an accident with an uninsured motorist while they were operating a vehicle they owned, but not listed as an insured vehicle on the policy from which they claimed UM benefits. None of the policies extended liability coverage to the vehicles the claimants were operating at the time of the accident. Each of the policies provided some type of liability coverage to resident relatives who qualified as "persons insured" for accidents involving the vehicle

identified on the policy. Each of the policies excluded UM coverage to an insured for bodily injury while occupying or through being struck by an uninsured or underinsured vehicle owned by an insured or a resident relative. In each instance, the claimant maintained that they were Class I insureds and the UM carrier could not exclude them from UM coverage under <u>Mullis</u>. Yet, in every case, the courts held that the UM carrier was not obligated to provide UM benefits because there was no liability coverage for the person claiming UM benefits. As such, each exclusion was enforceable and did not run afoul of the <u>Mullis</u> rule. The Fifth District reached the exact opposite result with the same material facts in this case.<sup>5</sup>

Since there is a sufficient basis upon which to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, this Petitioner requests that the Court exercise its discretion and review this case on the merits. If the decision of the Fifth District is allowed to stand, there is the obvious problem with the conflict among the different District Courts of Appeal. Trial judges within those districts will be required to reach conflicting results on the same issue. There is also the problem of those federal courts sitting in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Since Nationwide was not obligated to provide liability coverage to Mr. Phillips, the Fifth District's reliance on <u>Carbonell v. Automobile Insurance Co. of Hartford,</u> <u>Conn.</u>, 562 So.2d 437 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990) to create such coverage is at the very least confusing. The <u>Carbonell</u> court held that the named insured was entitled to notice, and absent the notice, the <u>Mullis</u> rule would be applied to determine the UM issue. Application of that rule here would still result in no UM coverage. The Fifth District appears to have used that decision to create UM coverage by estoppel.

Florida who must apply Florida law. For instance, in <u>DeLuna v.</u> <u>Valiant Insurance Co.</u>, \_\_\_\_\_ F.Supp \_\_\_\_, 6 FLW Fed. 209 (M.D. Fla. June 8, 1992), the district court applied the rule stated in <u>Webster</u>, <u>Wright</u> and <u>Bolin</u>. That court determined that a resident daughter of a named insured was not entitled to UM coverage from her parents' policy when she was injured while operating her own separately-insured vehicle which was not insured under her parents' policy.

Finally, this Court can provide judges and lawyers alike the much-needed explanation that the term "persons insured" in the UM statute and the Financial Responsibility Law does not require coverage for all resident family members of the named insured. Each statute requires coverage only for specifically insured and identified motor vehicles. <u>Florida Statutes</u> § 324.151(1)(a) requires an owner's policy to provide coverage only to the owner named in the policy and permissive operators of the identified vehicles. In the absence of some clear statement of legislative intent to the contrary, the Fifth District, or any other court, should not be free to re-write an insurance contract to require coverage the Legislature has not required and the insurer has not voluntarily provided.

#### CONCLUSION

The decision of Fifth District provides this Court with the ability to exercise its discretion to hear the case on the merits. The decision expressly and directly conflicts with rules of law announced by this Court and by the sister courts of the Fifth District. Likewise, the decision misapplied existing rules to reach conflicting results with other reported decisions which have the same material facts. The ramifications of the Fifth District's decision are far reaching and provide more than ample justification for this court to exercise its jurisdiction and review this matter. This petitioner requests the Court to exercise that jurisdiction and review this case on the merits.