STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Respondents would adopt by reference the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. (A. 1-11). Furthermore, the Respondents would agree with the brief summary of the facts provided by Nationwide. However, the Respondents would also add that Nationwide admitted it did not follow the statutory requirements for limiting uninsured motorist coverage as outlined in Florida Statute §627.727(9). This would include not only obtaining a signed acceptance of this limited coverage by the named insured, but also charging a lesser premium for this more restricted coverage.

JURISDICTIONAL ISSUE

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH OTHER REPORTED APPELLATE DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT AND THE OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision of the Fifth District does not expressly and directly conflict with the decision of this court in Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990). There, this court held that there would be no uninsured motorist coverage for a wrongful death claim where the decedent, as opposed to the survivor, was not an insured under the policy. In this case, Mr. Phillips was clearly an insured under Nationwide's policy. The Fifth District's decision in this case merely restates the holding of Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971), which has also been recently reaffirmed by this This case is factually indistinguishable from Mullis. Therefore, there is no reason why the Fifth District's opinion arriving at the same conclusion as Mullis should create conflict jurisdiction in this court. It is conflict of decisions and not conflicts in opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for a review by certiorari. Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1970).

Furthermore, the decision in this case does not conflict with the other District Court opinions cited by Nationwide in its brief, since those decisions involve the construction of different insurance policies. In each of those cases, it was decided that the injured party was not an "insured" under the definitions contained within the insurance policy itself. As previously noted, there is no question in this case but that Mr. Phillips was an insured. In fact, under the definitions contained in the policy, as the spouse of the named insured, he had the same status as the named insured.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DOES NOT EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICT WITH NUMEROUS OTHER REPORTED APPELLATE DECISIONS FROM THIS COURT AND OTHER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL.

has long been recognized that "it is conflict of decisions, not conflict of opinions or reasons that supplies jurisdiction for review by certiorari." Gibson v. Maloney, 231 So.2d 823, 824 (Fla. 1990) (emphasis in original). This rule was quoted with approval by the majority in Jenkins v. State, 385 So.2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). It is clear that there is absolutely no conflict between this decision and this court's holding (or decision) in Valiant Insurance Co. v. Webster, 567 So.2d 408 (Fla. 1990). The holding of the <u>Valiant</u> decision was that a wrongful death claim could not be made under an uninsured motorist policy where the decedent (as opposed to survivor) was not an insured under that policy. In this case, Mr. Phillips was clearly an insured under Nationwide's policy since he was the spouse of the named insured and they lived together in the same household. fact, under the definitions contained in Nationwide's policy, he was included within the term "you" and therefor had the same status as the named insured under this policy. absolutely no Appellate Court decision in the state of Florida which has upheld an exclusion to uninsured motorist coverage to a named insured.

There can be no conflict with any other Appellate Court

decision where the facts of this totally case are indistinguishable from the facts in Mullis v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 252 So.2d 229 (Fla. 1971). Of course, in Mullis, the resident relative was riding a motorcycle which was not insured for liability purposes under State Farm's policy. State Farm's policy had virtually the same exclusion that Nationwide is attempting to use against Mr. Phillips in this case. However, the Supreme Court held that such an exclusion was against public policy and contrary to the Uninsured Motorist Statute. The ongoing validity of the Mullis decision cannot be questioned since the <u>Valiant</u> opinion recognized that it remains the "polestar" in determining the extent to which the state requires uninsured motorist coverage to be provided. Valiant at 411. Furthermore, the Mullis holding was recently reaffirmed by this court in its decision in Florida Farm Bureau Cas. Co. v. Hurtado, 587 So.2d 1314 (Fla. 1991).

This case, likewise, does not conflict with any of the decisions of the District Courts of Appeal cited in the Petitioner's brief. Each of those decisions involved insurance policies that are materially different from the Phillips' policy with Nationwide. In particular, each of those cases decided that, under the wording of those particular insurance policies, the injured resident relative/claimant was simply not an insured as that term was defined in those policies. There is no such restrictive definition of an "insured" under Nationwide's policy.

The Fourth District's opinion in Welker v. Worldwide Underwriters Ins. Co., 601 So.2d 572 (Fla. 4DCA 1992), adequately discusses the distinctions between the cases relied upon by the Petitioner and those which have applied the Mullis analysis to find that the claimant is entitled to uninsured motorist coverage. See also, Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Bennett, 466 So.2d 242 (Fla. 2DCA 1984). Auto-Owners Ins. Co. v. Queen, 468 So.2d 499 (Fla. 5DCA 1985) and Lewis v. Cincinnati Insurance Co., 503 So.2d 908 (Fla. 5DCA), rev. denied, 511 So.2d 297 (Fla. 1987). These decisions are all in accord with the Fifth District's opinion in this case.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the Fifth District does not provide this Court with the basis to exercise its discretion to hear this case on the merits since there is no express and direct conflict with any other Florida Appellate Court decision. In fact, the Fifth District opinion merely applies the holding of Mullis to a case which is "on all fours" with that "polestar" decision. It is clear that there would only have been conflict jurisdiction if the Fifth District had ruled with Nationwide. The decision in this case simply does not conflict with any decision of this court or any District Court of Appeal. Therefore, under the rule in Gibson and Jenkins, this Court should not accept jurisdiction to review this case on the merits.